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I. STATEMENT OF INTEREST 


These comments are submitted on behalf of Owner-Operator Independent Drivers Association, Inc. (“OOIDA” or “Association”) in response to a Notice of Proposed Rulemaking  and Request for Comments (“Notice” or “NPRM”) entitled “Coercion of Commercial Motor Vehicle Drivers, Prohibition”  published by the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration, (“FMCSA” or “Agency”), Docket No. FMCSA-2012-0377, 79 Fed. Reg. 27265 (May 13, 2014).  The Notice announces new rules “that prohibit motor carriers, shippers, receivers, or transportation intermediaries from coercing drivers to operate commercial motor vehicles (CMVs) in violation of certain provision of the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations (FMCSRs)…”  NPRM at 27265.


OOIDA is a not-for-profit corporation incorporated in 1973 under the laws of the State of Missouri, with its principal place of business in Grain Valley, Missouri. OOIDA is the largest international trade association representing the interests of independent owner-operators, small-business motor carriers, and professional drivers. The approximately 150,000 members of OOIDA are professional drivers and small-business men and women located in all 50 states and Canada who collectively own and operate more than 200,000 individual heavy-duty trucks. Single-truck motor carriers represent nearly half of the total of active motor carriers operated in the United States. The mailing address of the Association is:

Owner-Operator Independent Drivers Association, Inc.

P.O. Box 1000

1 NW OOIDA Drive

Grain Valley, Missouri 64029

www.ooida.com

The Association actively promotes the views of professional drivers and small-business truckers through its interaction with state and federal government agencies, legislatures, courts, other trade associations, and private businesses to advance an equitable and safe environment for commercial drivers, including those with their own federal motor carrier operating authority. OOIDA is active in all aspects of highway safety and transportation policy, and represents the positions of professional drivers and small-business truckers in numerous committees and various forums on the local, state, national, and international levels.  OOIDA’s mission includes the promotion and protection of the interests of independent truckers on any issue which might touch on their economic well-being, their working conditions, or the safe operation of their motor vehicles on the nation’s highways.  The proposed rule has important implications for OOIDA and its members.  
OOIDA applauds FMCSA for taking the important step of recognizing the direct impact of economic conditions in the trucking industry on the behavior of actors in the industry and on highway safety.  The marketplace demands for just-in-time shipping and greater transportation efficiency have meant ever increasing pressure to perform on one party, the driver.  OOIDA offers these comments to encourage the agency to use this opportunity to promulgate an effective and wide-reaching rule that will promote highway safety.  This is the first time this agency has attempted to address the causes of violations of the motor carrier safety rules, rather than merely interdicting violations after they have occurred.  This is a completely untapped area for substantial improvements in motor carrier safety.  
OOIDA is concerned, however, that the scope of the proposed rule, set by the proposed definition of coercion, is too narrow and limited to achieve the intended policy goals and statutory mandate.  The proposed rule would not help end some common causes of driver coercion and does not reach some parties named in the statute who routinely coerce drivers but have no employment or contractual relation with them.  FMCSA recognizes in the NPRM that this is a new area of enforcement and that the agency’s approach will likely evolve as it gathers more information about the coercion problem.  OOIDA encourages FMCSA to continue to reach out to the driver and motor carrier community to create the most effective rule possible.
II. COMMENTS
A. INTRODUCTION

Congress has imposed upon FMCSA the fundamental duty to pursue the “highest degree of safety in motor carrier transportation.” 49 U.S.C. § 113(b).  The coercion statute at 49 U.S.C. § 31136(a)(5) was enacted as part of the Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21st Century Act (MAP-21), Pub. L. 112-141, Section 32911, 126 Stat. 405, July 6, 2012.  The statute imposes a duty on the Secretary to promulgate regulations that ensure parties who play a major role in freight transportation do not coerce operators (drivers) into operating commercial-motor vehicles in violation of a comprehensive list of safety and commercial-related regulations.  While it is true that drivers as a group will benefit from a working environment with less coercion, it is important to keep in mind that the primary goal of the statute is to reduce regulatory violations and improve highway safety.  

This provision represents a sea-change in FMCSA’s enforcement focus from one that attempts to identify motor carrier safety violations after they have occurred to one that addresses the source and cause of many of such violations.  This is a completely untapped area of potential improvement in highway safety.  


Each day several million commercial motor vehicle drivers make dozens of decisions that carry important implications for the safe movement of freight on the nation’s highways.  Section 31136(a)(5) recognizes that these decisions may be influenced (for better or worse) by other parties in freight transportation including motor carriers, shippers, receivers and transportation intermediaries.  OOIDA applauds the agency’s efforts to learn about and address this problem.   OOIDA encourages FMCSA to take greater control and possession of the enforcement scheme to address driver coercion.


The policy goal of this statute is to improve highway safety.  FMCSA has an affirmative duty under the statute to meet that policy goal by promulgating rules that ensure that drivers are not coerced.  The Executive Summary to the March 5, 2014 Privacy Impact Assessment demonstrates that FMCSA has an appreciation for its responsibilities under Section 31136(a):  (Congress mandated that FMCSA “ensure that any regulations adopted…do not result in coercion of drivers…”). Id at 1.  The proposed rule forbids motor carriers, shippers, receivers and brokers from coercing drivers, but it then assigns the initiation of enforcement responsibilities to drivers who “must bear a substantial burden of proof” in establishing coercion.  79 Fed. Reg. at 27268-2.  The proposed rule appears to set up the coercion enforcement process as an adversarial proceeding between drivers and other parties.  For coercion enforcement, the remedy is in the nature of a penalty imposed and collected by FMCSA for violations of the rules.  Drivers obtain no award or remedy at the end of the coercion enforcement process.  It is the FMCSA and its MCSAP enforcement partners who have the duty and responsibility to prosecute coercion and issue fines in service of its primary policy mission:  motor carrier safety.  OOIDA can think of no other regulatory setting where the balance of the enforcement burden is placed on a private citizen, and not the government, to prove a violation of the law that results in the issuance of penalties and fines for the government.  This would be analogous to FMCSA asking drivers to inspect each other’s trucks and turn in reports of violations to the MCMIS database.  FMCSA’s proposal is flawed to the extent that it puts responsibility to initiate and prove incidents of unlawful coercion upon those least able to deal with the problem directly - - the coerced driver.  Drivers should of course, have a role to play in the enforcement process but FMCSA must take the lead in such enforcement activities. 


These comments identify additional areas that FMCSA must address to fully attend to its duties under the coercion statute and assist FMCSA in promulgating a rule that promotes the “highest degree of safety in motor carrier transportation.” 

B. THE EFFECT OF THE COERCION STATUTE ON EXISTING
AND NEW RULES
This rule derives from 49 U.S.C. Section 31136, one of FMCSA’s core sources of regulatory authority.  FMCSA’s obligations under § 31136 (a)(5) apply to all rules promulgated under § 31136 (a)(1)-(4) as well as rules promulgated under chapters 51 and 313 of Title 49, U.S. Code.  In this context, OOIDA believes that FMCSA has a continuing obligation to consider the issue of coercion in the formulation of each of its future rulemakings. Nothing need be done in this rulemaking to accomplish this statutory duty.  OOIDA will look to future rulemakings for ways in which FMCSA may tailor the rule to prevent coercion.  OOIDA looks forward to partnering with FMCSA to provide all of the expertise and experience of its members to this effort.
But more pertinent to this rulemaking, OOIDA believes that FMCSA has a duty under the new statute to seek comment and review on all existing rules to determine whether they may be rewritten to prevent coercion.  For example:

· The proposed rule covering electronic logging devices that requires the driver to record non-driving changes in duty status – a function that fails to comply with the statutory mandate for automatic recording of changes in duty status, but that also give the motor carriers and other parties who are subject to the proposed rule a tool to coerce drivers to record non-driving changes in duty status that would violate the rules.
· The Hours of Service rules should be amended to prohibit the dispatch of a driver on a route that requires a delivery deadline that could not be met lawfully given the driver’s status under the Hours of Service rule at the time of dispatch.  OOIDA does not believe that it would be coercive if the original deadline could not be met under the Hours of Service rule, if the deadline is reset to allow the driver to complete delivery within the Hours of Service rules.
C. IMPROVEMENTS TO THE PROPOSED PROCEDURES
1. The Proposed Definition Of Coercion Is Unclear Or Too Narrow.
MAP-21 requires that FMCSA’s regulations “shall ensure that—an operator of a commercial motor vehicle is not coerced by a motor carrier, shipper, receiver, or transportation intermediary to operate a commercial motor vehicle in violation of a regulation promulgated under this section...”  The proposed definition of coercion, however, is somewhat vague and appears too narrow to address the breadth of the types of coercion OOIDA believes fall under the statute:

Coerce or Coercion means either— 

(1) A threat by a motor carrier, shipper, receiver, or transportation intermediary, or their respective agents, officers or representatives, to withhold, or the actual withholding of, current or future business, employment, or work opportunities from a driver for objecting to the operation of a commercial motor vehicle under circumstances which the motor carrier, shipper, receiver, or transportation intermediary, or their respective agents, officers, or representatives, knew, or should have known, would require the driver to violate 49 CFR parts 171–173, 177–180, 380–383, or 390–399, or §§ 385.105(b), 385.111(a), (c)(1), or (g), 385.415, or 385.421; or 

(2) A threat by a motor carrier, or its agents, officers or representatives, to withhold, or the actual withholding of, current or future business, employment,

or work opportunities from a driver for objecting to the operation of a commercial motor vehicle, or to taking other action or to the failure to act, under circumstances which the motor carrier, or its agents, officers or representatives knew, or should have known would require the driver to violate 49 CFR parts 356, 360, or 365–379.
· OOIDA is concerned that “business, employment, or work opportunities” will be interpreted narrowly in the future as solely being denied employment or a contract.  In order to be effective, however, it must also include the instances when negative economic consequences are threatened or occur during the performance of a contract or during a period of employment.  This includes penalties or non-payment for being late – even if on-time delivery would have violated the hours of service rules, and penalties for refusing to drive a vehicle in a condition of ill-repair that is unsafe. 
· This definition does not clearly prohibit the firing of employees, dismissal or termination of independent contractor, or cancellation of a commercial contract.

· The definition must prohibit coercion within the employment or independent contractor relationship: when a motor carrier threatens to withhold pay, loads, benefits, and advancement from drivers for not complying with demands that may violate the motor carrier safety rules.  The threats of such retaliation are not covered by the OSHA regulatory scheme, but fall within the intent of the proposed rule.

· This definition is good in that it recognizes the statutory mandate over parties other than motor carriers who may coerce drivers by withholding or threatening to withhold business opportunities for failing to comply with demands that may require the driver to break the law.  
· FMCSA must recognize that coercion often occurs before the driver gets behind the wheel of a truck, when a driver is dispatched on a delivery deadline that cannot be accomplish within the HOS rules, or the driver is assigned equipment known to not meet FMCSA equipment standards.

Other types of coercion that should be prohibited by the plain language of the rule include:

· When a driver recognizes road or driving conditions as hazardous (high rates of snowfall, black ice, dense fog) and makes the safety conscious decision to park, or when state law enforcement officials have ordered trucks off the road due to unsafe conditions, and then the driver receives a communication (from a carrier or other party tracking the truck on GPS and noticing that it stopped) demanding the driver to get back on the road.
· When a driver is ill or fatigued and makes the safety conscious decision to stop driving, but receives a communication (from a carrier or other party following the truck on GPS and noticing that it stopped) demanding the driver get back on the road.  An example would be: when a driver with 3 hours of driving time and 4 hours on-duty time left realizes that he needs to take a nap because a minor illness has left him with less energy than usual. While monitoring an ELD the carrier he drives for notices the change to sleeper birth status and attempts to coerce the driver to return to driving in order to maximize to potential usage of available hours and so that he can be dispatched for the next load as quickly as possible. This would not be an HOS violation, but is an attempt to violate the drivers’ evaluation of an unsafe situation.
· FMCSA appropriately recognizes in the Notice that there may be overlap between its authority under coercion statute to issue fines against several different parties for coercion of a driver and the authority of the Labor Department under 49 U.S.C. §31105 and 29 C.F.R. § 1978.100 et seq. to order a motor carrier to compensate a driver for his losses from retaliation for refusing to comply with the carrier’s demand to violate a safety regulation.  Both the FMCSA and DOL statutes serve different policies, have different remedies, apply to somewhat different types of actors, and have a different scope.  OOIDA agrees that in many instances it may be appropriate for a driver to file complaints with both FMCSA and the DOL.  OOIDA applauds FMCSA’s new MOU with the OSHA creating coordination between the agency’s enforcement efforts.  OOIDA hopes that this effort will work to ensure there are no gaps and loopholes between the two enforcement schemes, and that the enforcement be concurrent on all possible occasions.  The proposed definition of coercion, however, appears to put distance between the two scenarios.  The proposed rule does not necessarily overlap with the DOL rules and leaves, unaddressed, forms of coercion that must be covered to comply with the statute.  For example, OSHA rules cover instances of actual motor carrier retaliation against a driver in an employment relationship (loss of pay, benefits, or promotion) but not the threats of coercion – an area that is within FMSCA’s authority to address.
2. The Requirement That the Driver Objects or Attempts to Object to Operate the Vehicle in Violation of the Rules.
OOIDA is concerned that the proposal to require drivers to object to the coercion as a precondition of finding a violation of the concern statute is a significant obstacle to coercion enforcement given the relative imbalance of economic power that motor carriers, brokers, and other intermediaries wield over drivers.  This proposal puts drivers in a “Catch 22” in instances where voicing objections to coercive requests may bring economic retaliation or the termination of a relationship.   OOIDA understands that there may be instances when the motor carrier, broker or intermediary needs to be informed by the driver when a demand would require the driver to violate the safety rules.  But there are other instances when the motor carrier, broker, or intermediary already has the knowledge, or has the duty to be informed of the drivers’ circumstances that make the demands upon the driver unlawful.  As the Notice describes, the parties “knew, or should have known” in such circumstances.  In those circumstances, a manifestation of the driver’s objection is not required for the parties’ actions to constitute unlawful coercion.  
OOIDA suggests that that FMCSA encourage drivers to make their concerns known and to document their efforts as a helpful component of prosecuting coercion.  FMCSA should make its driver Hotline available to drivers in such situations as a source of information and guidance on how to handle such situations.  FMCSA should consider its enforcement options to intervene in such circumstances to support the driver’s making the safe decision. But the rule should not rely upon a mandate that the driver voice an objection as a necessary condition for finding a violation.
3. The Need For FMCSA Guidance On Evidence
The Notice describes how important evidence is to its prosecution of a coercion violation.  OOIDA suggests that FMCSA be much more active in defining what evidence is useful in proving coercion.  FMCSA should conduct outreach sessions with driver to understand what kind of evidence is available to drivers and to instruct drivers in what types of documentation, including their creation of a contemporaneous journal, would be relevant.  FMCSA should publish and guidance to drivers on what specific documents would support claims of coercion.  It is in FMCSA’s policy interests to educate and support drivers so that there is as clear a predictable and practical path to proving coercion.  Driver Hotline staff should also be trained to help drivers understand what documentation and evidence should be collected, maintained, or created by the driver in such situations.  And FMCSA should resist all comments to weaken the effect of the rule by adopting any standard for a burden of proof that exceed the standard for determining other safety violations.
D. THE NEED FOR COERCION ENFORCEMENT BEYOND THE PROPOSED RULE

1. The Need for FMCSA to Incorporate Coercion Interdiction into Its Enforcement Routines and Procedures.
FMCSA must take steps to make coercion enforcement a routine part of its enforcement efforts.  Coercion enforcement should be made a component of state MCSAP requirements.  FMCSA’s training program for inspectors and safety auditors should teach how to successfully identify and prosecute coercion.  FMCSA has never before sought to address the causes of motor carrier safety violations, and it should look to leverage every resource available to it to maximize the effectiveness of this unrealized opportunity to improve motor carrier safety compliance. 

2. The Use of All Sources of Information on Driver Coercion. 
FMCSA should look to any sources of information to which it has access to find and prosecute driver coercion, not just direct driver complaints submitted under the proposed rule.  The current driver hotline should be relied upon to identify coercion for further investigation and enforcement.  The FMCSA should act upon the complaints about coercion that the Notice mentions would be brought to the attention of the DOT Inspector General’s office.  When FMCSA and it MCSAP partners conduct safety audits, it should routinely look through the motor carrier’s policies, practices, and instructions to drivers for evidence of coercive behavior. 
3. Whistleblower Protections
One of the greatest obstacles to enforcement efforts addressing driver coercion is the potential for retaliation against drivers reporting coercion.  In order for FMCSA to maximize its potential to combat driver coercion, it must put in place whistleblower protections to make drivers more willing to come forward.  This includes a guarantee of a certain amount of confidentiality in driver communications with the agency, and procedures at the agency to take action against parties who retaliate against drivers who submit good faith allegation of coercion to the agency.
4. FMCSA and Its MCSAP Partners Should Proactively Find and Prosecute Coercive Behavior in Its Routine Enforcement Activities.
FMCSA should not create a rule that only permits it to act upon coercive behavior when a driver files a complaint.  FMCSA and its MCSAP partners should actively search for and identify incidents of coercion in its routine enforcement and safety audit procedures.  For example, OOIDA provided to FMCSA, in previous comments on EOBRs, examples of written motor carrier policies instructing the driver to log loading and unloading time as 15 minutes – no matter how long the activity takes.  OOIDA thinks such evidence would be prima facie evidence of driver coercion, subject to a separate fine for every contract the carrier entered into requiring such performance by the driver.  The driver Hotline could be an excellent source of information to target such enforcement efforts.

5. The Need for All Communications With a Driver to be Recorded or Saved.
One of the biggest challenges of proving driver coercion is that it is often made through an oral communication to the driver.  But a great deal of communication currently occurs between motor carriers and drivers through texting, email, and messaging through proprietary tracking and communications equipment.  OOIDA suggests that FMCSA require all parties providing drivers with instructions, rules, or other conditions on the transportation to maintain all such communications as they do supporting documents under the HOS rules.  OOIDA is aware that many motor carriers, brokers and third parties already retain such communication, and so this requirement should not be a significant burden.   Such records should be regularly reviewed during safety audits and compliance reviews.  The potential safety benefits of motor carriers knowing that these records will be available to enforcement would outweigh any added burden.  Such a rule would create and maintain the evidence that drivers or FMCSA may need to prove coercion, and it would act to discourage the use of such communications to coerce drivers. 
6. The Need to Prohibit Motor Carriers From Reporting to Other Employers or Consumer Reporting Agencies  a Driver’s Failure              to Act in Manner That Would Have Violated the Law.

One form of coercion and retaliation against drivers is the reporting of negative information about a driver in an employment history submitted to a consumer reporting agency.  Other motor carriers purchase that employment history from the consumer reporting agency to fulfill their FMCSR hiring requirements, and they often make negative hiring decisions based on those reports.   On their face, some of the information reported appears performance related, such as “late pick/up delivery.”  But there is nothing to protect drivers from being tagged with a negative mark on their employment history if the late pickup or delivery resulted from conditions or circumstances that caused the driver to run out of legal hours to make the delivery on-time.  Resistance to coercion (i.e. the driver objections proposed by the Notice) may be reported as “refused dispatch” or “insubordination.”  These employment records can effectively disqualify a driver from being considered for employment by motor carriers or make it much harder for the driver to find employment.  The result is that safety-conscious drivers who do the right thing and resist coercion get bad employment reports and are driven out of the industry.  Other drivers who capitulate to demands to violate the rules and save their jobs can keep fairly clean employment records and stay in the industry.  

This is a critical area for FMCSA to address in order to combat coercion.  FMCSA should impose penalties upon motor carriers who submit such information to consumer reporting agencies and who refuse to remove such information after it is submitted.
7. The Need For This Rule To Govern The Demands Of Receivers At The Loading Docks.
Although receivers are specifically named in the authorizing statute, the coercive actions of most receivers are not prohibited by the Notice’s definition of coercion.  Although it is possible, there is rarely a contractual or employment relationship between receivers and drivers. This does not stop receivers from coercing drivers to violate the rules.  The most powerful tool that receivers have over drivers is the withholding of a signature or receipt from the driver acknowledging receipt of the freight – a document the driver needs as a condition for being compensated by their carrier or third-party and that the driver must obtain before driving away to get rest or new business.   Withholding such receipt is commonly used by receivers to coerce drivers to:

· accept the receiver’s schedule to unload a vehicle (no matter when the driver arrived at the docks, when the driver’s next scheduled pickup or delivery may be, or what the driver’s Hours of Service status may be);

· pay the dockworkers (lumpers) to do the unloading;
· require the driver to break down pallets and sort and stack freight.

Many of these circumstances of coercion are prohibited by the anti-lumping statute found at 49 U.S.C § 14103.  FMCSA has jurisdiction to enforce this statute, and OOIDA encourages the agency to consider making enforcement of this statute a component of its new anti-coercion effort.  
The new coercion statute is also applicable to the extent a receiver’s behavior coerces the driver to operate the vehicle beyond the Hours of Service rules:

· Requiring the driver to unload or perform dock work past his 14 hour work day and then demand the driver drive away from the dock (leaving the driver no opportunity to look for a place to park or rest).
· Holding the driver outside the docks past his 14 hour work window, and then requiring the driver to drive into the docks to load or unload the truck – or be forced to wait an unknown amount of time before being given another opportunity.

· Holding the driver in detention at the loading dock past the 14th hour of work, and when the driver has told them he has run out of hours to drive the truck and cannot operate it, threatening to or actually calling the police on the driver, threatening to or alleging charges of trespass against the driver, and sometimes having the truck towed at a cost of thousands of dollars to the driver.
· And even in the last scenario if  the driver was released before the 14 hour work-day was over, the receiver’s action is still coercion if there is not enough time left in the 14 hours work day for that driver to find a safe place to park for the night.
· Demanding pick-up or delivery deadlines that require the driver either to drive faster or violate the HOS rules to complete.

8. The Involvement of Law Enforcement in Coercion

The last subject points out that, although they are not specifically identified in the authorizing statute, law enforcement can be complicit or even initiate coercion that requires drivers to violate the safety regulation.  This is especially true with local law enforcement which do not understand or enforce the motor carrier safety regulations.  As stated above, at the behest of shippers and, receivers, law enforcement has been called in to order a driver to operate beyond the hours of service rules in order to leave a business property – causing the driver to violate the HOS rules for reasons created by the shipper or receiver.

Similarly, OOIDA members are familiar with law enforcement forcing driver to leave parking areas, legal and illegal, and then charging them for violating the hours of service rules.  If the agency wants to encourage drivers to pull over and get rest when they are tired, then it needs to lead the effort to make rest areas available to drivers, free from coercion of any type.
9. The Future Of Coercion Enforcement

OOIDA understands that this is a new area of enforcement for FMCSA.  There is going to be a learning process by the agency, its MCSAP partners, the entities targeted by the statute, and drivers.  OOIDA encourages FMCSA to take further steps to investigate the nature of coercion as a source of motor carrier safety violations as part of the rulemaking process.  And in the future, OOIDA encourages FMCSA to commit to periodic public meetings and notices and requests for comments over the next months and year on how well the final rule works, to identify what areas of enforcement may be improved and how they may be made more effective to make the rule and FMCSA procedures fulfill the statutory mandate more effectively.  In order for the final rule to be effective it must be carefully constructed in order to avoid confusion and ambiguity. 
III. 
CONCLUSION


The circumstances of coercion described in these comments identify some of the most common reasons for the violations of the safety rules.  This new statute is important for its potential to address some of the reasons for motor carrier safety violations rather than enforcement after violations occur and there has been a risk to safety.  OOIDA appreciates the efforts that FMCSA has made to inform itself about this problem and propose a rule to exercise its new enforcement authority to address the causes of many motor carrier safety violations.  The proposed rule, however, falls short of meeting the breadth of the issue contemplated by the statutory mandate.  OOIDA hopes that these comments will inform FMCSA about the breadth of the coercion problem that must be addressed to fully comply with the new statute.  OOIDA will continue to encourage its members to share their experience and wisdom with FMCSA as it moves forward with this rulemaking.
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